JUN 01 2015

COA No. 33163-6-III

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON BV___

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STEVEN P. KOZOL,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY HONORABLE JAMES M. TRIPLET

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEVEN P. KOZOL Appellant/Plaintiff, Pro Per DOC# 974691 Stafford Creek Corr. Center 191 Constantine Way Aberdeen, WA 98520 (360)537-1800

www.FreeSteveKozol.com

INTRODUCTION

Under the Public Records Act, an agency must produce an identifiable record in its entirety when requested, unless all or a portion of the record is claimed to be exempt from production. When an agency repeatedly confirms that a specific record is requested, and it knows the record is comprised of more than one page, the agency cannot silently withhold some pages of the record and then claim to have produced the record.

An agency must conduct an adequate search for the requested records, which includes searching locations where the record could reasonably exist. Once an agency confirms a request for an identifiable record, but fails to produce the entirety of the record, the agency cannot modify the specific record request after the fact in an attempt to insulate itself from a violation of the Public Records Act.

An agency violates the Act by destroying original responsive records after they were requested, but before the request has been resolved through completion of judicial review.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in granting dismissal of Plaintiff's claims and denying Plaintiff's CR 59 motion for reconsideration.

<u>Assignment of Error No. 2</u>: The trial court erred in denying Plaintiff's motion for CR 56(f) continuance.

<u>Assignment of Error No. 3</u>: The trial court erred in failing to grant Plaintiff's motion to strike Defendant's irrelevant evidence.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR Assignment of Error No. 1:

Issue No. 1: Did the agency's production of silently withheld records after litigation commenced vitiate the agency's violation of the PRA?

Issue No. 2: Did the agency silently withhold records in violation of the PRA?

<u>Issue No. 3</u>: Did the agency's failure to claim an exemption on withheld records violate the PRA?

Issue No. 4: Did the agency's failure to conduct an adequate search for records violate the PRA?

Issue No. 5: Did the agency's unauthorized modification of Plaintiff's records requests violate the PRA?

Issue No. 6: Did the agency's destruction of requested records violate the PRA?

<u>Issue No. 7</u>: Did a genuine dispute of material fact of 23 records destructions preclude summary judgment?

<u>Issue No. 8</u>: Did a genuine dispute of material fact as to usage of records preclude summary judgment?

Issue No. 9: Should Plaintiff be permitted to conduct discovery as to the agency's possible bad faith?

Assignment of Error No. 2:

<u>Issue No. 1</u>: Should Plaintiff's motion for CR 56(f) continuance have been granted?

Assignment of Error No. 3:

<u>Issue No. 1</u>: Should Plaintiff's motion to strike Defendant's evidence have been granted?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 8, 2012, Plaintiff/Appellant Steven P. Kozol submitted 31 separate Public Records Act requests to Defendant/Respondent Washington Department of Corrections (DOC) seeking any and all records of 31 different, individually numbered inmate grievances filed within the Department. Each separate written request specifically asked for the original grievance/complaint form. Clerk's Papers (CP) 42-71.

On February 17, 2012, DOC Public Disclosure Specialist Terry Pernula responded to Mr. Kozol by letter, acknowledging receipt of the 31 separate requests and assigning them tracking numbers PDU-18880 through PDU-18910. CP 72-73.

On April 2, 2012, the DOC notified Mr. Kozol that there were no records responsive to request no. PDU-18880, and closed the request. CP 77. As to the remaining 30 requests, the DOC produced between April 2, 2012 to April 16, 2012 what it purported to be all responsive records in their entirety by emailing the records to Mr. Kozol's designated email account, and memorializing each record production in 30 separate letters sent to Kozol via

U.S. Mail. Specifically, each of DOC's production letters expressly confirmed that Mr. Kozol had sought "the original complaint form." CP 80-150.

With assistance of a third party, Mr. Kozol had the e-mailed records forwarded directly to his attorney, Michael C. Kahrs, for review. It took several months of conferring with his attorney, but Plaintiff eventually learned through conversations with Attorney Kahrs that the Department had not identified or produced all responsive pages in all 31 requests. CP 177-95.

Mr. Kozol submitted follow-up requests to the Department on November 22, 2013 and February 1, 2014 notifying the DOC that it had not produced, at a minimum, the second/back page of each original grievance/complaint form he had requested. Despite Mr. Kozol's specific follow-up requests, the Department never produced the records pages, never indicated it would search for the record pages, and never identified that the pages had been destroyed. CP 222-26.

Needing these records, Mr. Kozol filed suit, followed by a first amended complaint on January 8, 2014 to compel production of these records. CP 11-16. On April 10, 2014, the Department produced four (4) record pages that had been silently withheld in request no. PDU-18880. CP 78. However, the Department never produced any of the silently withheld second/back pages of the 31 original grievance/complaint forms specifically requested by Mr. Kozol. CP 232.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On January 30, 2014, the Defendant filed its Answer. CP 17-22. On May 28, 2014, the Defendant filed a motion for Mr. Kozol to "show cause" that the DOC had violated the Public Records Act. CP 23-156. In its motion, Defendant argued that it did not violate the PRA, that it conducted an adequate search, and that it did not violate the PRA in bad faith. CP 23-32.

Plaintiff filed its opposition to Defendant's "show cause" motion on June 5, 2014 (GR 3.1). Mr. Kozol argued that the DOC violated the PRA by (a) silently withholding the second/back page of each requested original complaint/grievance form, and (b) by unlawfully destroying the silently withheld records. CP 204-03. Mr. Kozol also argued that the court should not make any determination as to agency bad faith or adequacy of its records search until discovery had been completed; and he moved for a CR 56(f) continuance to complete discovery. CP 208-12. Further, Mr. Kozol argued that DOC's failure to adequately search for the requested records could not be vitiated by now modifying Mr. Kozol's clear records requests. CP 212-15. Mr. Kozol also filed a supplemental memorandum arguing further authority for the court to find DOC silently withheld and failed to adequately search for the requested records. CP 164-65.

Plaintiff filed a supplemental memorandum on his CR 56(f) motion, arguing that DOC's claim of not using the withheld second/back pages was unavailing, as prima facie evidence showed

the record pages were in fact used, and thus were public records responsive to the 31 requests for original grievance/complaint forms; Kozol also argued he should be afforded time to conduct adequate discovery to rebut DOC's evidence. CP 300-05.

The Department responded by reasserting its argument that the second/back pages of original grievance forms are never used by inmates or agency staff and therefore were not responsive to Mr. Kozol's requests. CP 326-28.

On October 17, 2014, the court issued a letter opinion finding that the DOC did not violate the PRA, denying Plaintiff's CR 56(f) motion for continuance, and declining to address -due to lack of PRA violation -- whether the agency acted in bad faith. CP 354-64. On November 21, 2014, the court entered an order granting Defendant's motion to show cause, dismissing Plaintiff's claims with prejudice, and denying Plaintiff's motion for continuance. CP 457-61.

Plaintiff filed a timely CR 59 motion for reconsideration in which he argued (1) Defendant's production of responsive records after litigation commenced rendered Plaintiff the prevailing party; (2) Defendant's admission that it knew it overlooked responsive pages precluded dismissal; (3) Defendant's unlawful destruction of responsive records violated the PRA; (4) Defendant was required to produce the entirety of the requested records absent a claimed exemption; (5) Defendant's search for records was inadequate; (6) a genuine dispute of

material fact of records destruction precluded summary judgment; (7) a genuine dispute of material fact of records usage precluded summary judgment; (8) Plaintiff's injunctive relief claim should not have been dismissed. CP 365-91.

On February 4, 2015, the court issued a memorandum decision denying reconsideration. CP 462-67. On March 13, 2015 the court entered an order on reconsideration, denying Mr. Kozol's CR 59 motion. CP 468-69. Mr. Kozol appeals.

ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Erred In Granting Dismissal Of Plaintiff's 31 Separate PRA Claims

1. CR 12(c) / summary judgment / CR 59 standard of review

The Department filed a motion to "show cause", supported by evidence outside the pleadings. CP 23-156. The trial court considered this evidence outside the pleadings. CP 457. Therefore, the show cause motion, which was essentially a dispositive CR 12(c) motion, was converted to a motion for summary judgment. Civil Rule 12(c). See <u>St. Yves v. Mid State Bank</u>, 111 Wn.2d 374, 377, 757 P.2d 1384 (1988); <u>P.E. Systems, LLC</u> <u>v. C.P.I. Corp.</u>, 176 Wn.2d 198, 206, 289 P.3d 638 (2012).

On appellate review, agency actions challenged under the PRA are reviewed <u>de novo</u>. <u>Cornu-Labat v. Hospital Dist. No.</u> <u>2 Grant County</u>, 177 Wn.2d 221, 228, 298 P.3d 741 (2013). In a PRA case, when the record consists of only affidavits, memoranda of law, and other documentary evidence, the appellate court is

not bound by the superior court's factual findings. <u>West v.</u> <u>Port of Olympia</u>, <u>Wn.App.</u>, 333 P.3d 488, 490 (2014).

As part of the summary judgment proceedings, the ruling denying CR 59 reconsideration is also reviewed <u>de novo</u>. <u>Rodriguez</u> <u>v. City of Moses Lake</u>, 158 Wn.App. 724, 728, 243 P.3d 552 (Div.3 2010) ("Where a trial court grants summary judgment and then denies reconsideration, evidence offered in support of the motion for reconsideration is properly part of an appellate court's <u>de novo</u> review.") (citing <u>Tanner Elec. Co-op. v. Puget Sound</u> <u>Power & Light Co.</u>, 128 Wn.2d 656, 675 n.6, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996)). See also <u>Folsom v. Burger King</u>, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1988)(<u>de novo</u> review standard applies to "all trial court rulings made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion.").

2. Defendant's Production of Responsive Records After Litigation Commenced Rendered Plaintiff the Prevailing Party, Precluding "Show Cause" Dismissal

The Defendant produced responsive records to Plaintiff's request no. PDU-18880 only after this lawsuit was commenced. CP 78. As a matter of law, this action cannot be dismissed merely because the DOC produced silently withheld records after Mr. Kozol filed suit. A PRA claimant "prevails" against an agency if the agency wrongfully withheld the documents. <u>Germeau v. Mason</u> <u>County</u>, 166 Wn.App. 789, 811, 271 P.3d 932, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1010, 281 P.3d 686 (2012).

Under the PRA, an agency cannot preclude a requestor from attaining prevailing party status by merely voluntarily producing the requested documents after a lawsuit was filed. "Government agencies may not resist disclosure of public records until a suit is filed and then, by disclosing them voluntarily, avoid paying fees and penalties." <u>West v. Thurston County</u>, 144 Wn.App. 573, 581, 183 P.3d 346 (2008).

As the prevailing party compelling disclosure, Plaintiff is entitled to all costs. RCW 42.56.550(4); <u>Robbins, Geller,</u> <u>Rudman & Dowd, LLP v. State</u>, 179 Wn.App. 711, 736, 328 P.3d 905 (2014). Additionally, Plaintiff would be allowed statutory penalties upon his showing the DOC acted in bad faith. <u>Francis</u> <u>v. Dep't of Corr.</u>, 178 Wn.App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1016, 327 P.3d 55 (2014); <u>Faulkner v. Dep't</u> of Corr., 183 Wn.App. 93, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014).

As a matter of law Defendant's motion to dismiss should not have been granted. Plaintiff is entitled to resume and complete his discovery in this case to allow him to make a showing of DOC's bad faith. See <u>Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane v.</u> <u>Spokane County</u>, 172 Wn.2d 702, 718-19, 261 P.3d 119 (2011)(all reasons for an agency's withholding of records are relevant and therefore are not only discoverable under the civil rules, but are also necessary in a PRA case.)

3. Silent Withholding of Records Pages Violated the PRA

The PRA requires agencies to respond to requests for only "identifiable public records." RCW 42.56.080. See <u>Hangartner</u> <u>v. City of Seattle</u>, 151 Wn.2d 439, 447-48, 90 P.3d 26 (2004). A party seeking public records under the PRA must "at a minimum...identify the documents with reasonable clarity to allow the agency to locate them." <u>Hangartner</u>, 151 Wn.2d at 447. "[A] proper request under the [PRA] must identify with reasonable clarity those documents that are desired." Id. at 448.

"A '[p]ublic record' is any writing containing information relating to the conduct of government...regardless of physical form or characteristics." <u>Beal v. City of Seattle</u>, 150 Wn.App. 865, 872, 209 P.3d 872 (2009)(citing RCW 42.56.020(2)). "An identifiable public record is one for which the requestor has given a reasonable description enabling the government employee to locate the requested record." Id.

Here, there is no question that each of Plaintiff's 31 separate requests expressly requested, by separate sentence, "the original complaint form." CP 42-71. The Department repeatedly confirmed that Plaintiff's requests each sought the original complaint/grievance form. CP 72-150. "[If] the agency was unclear about what was requested, it was required to seek clarification." Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 727.

Defendant did not seek clarification. Rather, Defendant admitted that it knew each original complaint form is a double-

sided, two-page public record, comprised of pages "DOC 05-165 Front" and "DOC 05-165 Back". CP 228. Declaration evidence further establishes DOC's knowledge of this fact. CP 152-53.

The PRA "requires all state and local agencies to disclose any public record upon request, unless the record falls within certain specific exemptions." <u>Progressive Animal Welfare Society</u> <u>v. Univ. of Wash.</u>, (PAWS II) 125 Wn.2d 243, 250, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). Failure to provide an explanation is a "silent withholding" which occurs when "an agency...retain[s] a record <u>or portion</u> without providing the required link to a specific exemption, and without providing the required explanation of how the exemption applies to the specific record withheld." <u>Id</u>. at 270 (emphasis added). "An agency must explain and justify any withholding, <u>in whole or in part</u>, of any requested records." <u>Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Authority</u>, 177 Wn.2d 417, 432, 300 P.3d 376 (2013)(emphasis added)(citing RCW 42.56.070(1), .210(3), .520).

Providing the required explanation is important not only because it informs the requestor why the documents are being withheld, but also because failure to provide the explanation "vitiates the reviewing court's ability to conduct the statutorily required de novo review." <u>Resident Action Council</u>, 177 Wn.2d at 432. See <u>Gronquist v. Wash. St. Dep't of Licensing</u>, 175 Wn.App. 729, 754, 309 P.3d 538, 550 (2013) (WDOL "failed to give any kind of explanation when it sent the redacted application

to Gronquist. Clearly, failure to provide any of the information required by RCW 42.56.210(3) was a violation of the PRA.")

Defendant has admitted it did not identify or produce each of the 31 second/back pages of original grievance forms requested by Plaintiff. CP 232. Nowhere in the record does it show Defendant claimed any exemptions from producing these 31 separate pages. This constitutes 31 silent withholdings, as Defendant admitted that each of the 31 original grievance forms were not produced in their entirety. CP 232. Moreover, Defendant silently withheld all responsive records in request no. PDU-18880. Silently withholding records is prohibited. <u>Resident Action</u> Council, 177 Wn.2d at 432.

Plaintiff's 31 requests expressly sought an identifiable record of original (double-sided) complaint/grievance forms. Plaintiff never requested partial documents or limited pages of a document. The PRA requires these requested records to be produced in their entirety. "The Public Records Act does not allow silent withholding of entire documents or records, any more than it allows <u>silent editing of documents or records</u>." <u>PAWS II</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 270 (emphasis added). See <u>Yousoufian v.</u> <u>Office of Ron Sims</u>, 152 Wn.2d 421, 445 n.3, 98 P.3d 463 (2004) (Sanders, J., dissenting, in part) ("However, the agency's failure to include pages of a single record would undeniably lead to a 'refus[al] to allow inspection or copying of a specific public record or class of records."")(quoting RCW 42.56.550(1)).

There is no question that in each of Plaintiff's 31 separate requests, Defendant's silent withholding of responsive records violated the Public Records Act.

4. Failure to Claim Exemption Violated the PRA

The PRA "requires all state and local agencies to disclose any public record upon request, unless the record falls within certain specific exemptions." <u>PAWS II</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 250. When an agency withholds or redacts records, in whole <u>or in part</u>, its response "shall include a statement of the specific exemption authorizing the withholding of the record (or part) and a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld." <u>City of Lakewood v. Koenig</u>, 2014 WL 7003790 *3 (citing RCW 42.56.210(3)).

Despite the statutory mandate for disclosure absent a claimed exemption, the DOC here did not claim any exemption from producing the entirety (including the second page) of the clearly identified original grievance/complaint forms. These failures to claim exemption violated the PRA.

5. Defendant's Inadequate Search Violated the PRA

"The adequacy of a search is judged by a standard of reasonableness, that is, the search must be reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents." <u>Neighborhood Alliance</u>, 172 Wn.2d at 720. "What will be considered reasonable will depend on the facts of each case." <u>Id</u>. "[W]hether the search was reasonably calculated and therefore adequate is separate from whether additional responsive documents exist but are not found."

Id.

"Additionally, agencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered. The search should not be limited to one or more places if there are additional sources for the information requested. Indeed, the agency cannot limit its search to only one record system if there are others likely to turn up the information requested."

Id.

When utilizing a motion for show cause or summary judgment concerning the adequacy of a PRA search, "the agency bears the burden, beyond material doubt, of showing its search was adequate." <u>Id</u>. at 721. To do so, the agency may present "reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits submitted in good faith." Id.

"These should include the search terms and the type of search performed, and they should establish that all places likely to contain responsive materials were searched."

Id. at 721.

i. Defendant's evidence was insufficient to carry its burden of showing it conducted adequate searches

The evidence presented to the trial court was insufficient to establish how the Department conducted each of its 31 searches for responsive records. In fact, the only information provided to date was in Defendant's Answer to Interrogatory No. 9, where the DOC speculatively offered that former employee Therese Pernula "would likely have" checked one database for the records in each of the 31 separate requests.¹ CP 239.

In this case the 31 separate requests pertained to records at three different prison facilities. Eight (8) of the requested records originated from the Airway Heights Corrections Center (AHCC), twenty-one (21) of the requested records originated from the Stafford Creek Corrections Center (SCCC), and two (2) of the requested records originated from the Washington State Penitentiary (WSP). CP 253-56.

Amazingly, while the DOC argued its 31 searches were adequate, it failed to produce even a scintilla of admissible evidence establishing to a sufficient degree how any of these requested records were searched for.

DOC's "show cause" motion was supported with only two declarations: the Declaration of Denise Vaughan, and the Declaration of Lee Young. Denise Vaughan's declaration, at paragraphs 7-9, scantily attempts to identify how the agency searched for records. However, this is nothing more than inadmissible and hearsay evidence, because the "Public Disclosure Coordinator assigned to the requests" is not only never identified in Ms. Vaughan's declaration, but Ms. Vaughan does not attest that either she or the unidentified employee personally searched for any of the records at issue. CP 14-15.

¹ Notably, the DOC objected to Interrogatory No. 9 on the grounds that it "calls for speculation." Ostensibly, the DOC has no idea how it searched for these 31 separate records.

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