FILED
JUNE 25, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 33163-6-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

STEVEN P. KOZOL,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Defendant/Appellee.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CANDIE M. DIBBLE WSBA #42279 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division, OID #91025 1116 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 100 Spokane, WA 99201-1106 (509) 456-3123

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Kozol's Claims for Failing to State a Violation of the PRA

Kozol failed to state a claim under the PRA because the back page of the grievance form was not responsive to his request for offender grievance records.

The PRA requires agencies to make identifiable public records available for inspection and copying. RCW 42.56.080. An identifiable public record is "one for which the requestor has given a reasonable description enabling the government employee to locate the requested record." *Beal v. City of Seattle*, 150 Wn. App. 865, 872, 209 P.3d 872 (2009); *see also* WAC 44-14-04002(2) (an "identifiable record" is one agency staff can "reasonably locate"). In this regard, the PRA does not require agencies to be mind readers or to produce records that have not been requested. *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 403, 409, 960 P.2d 447 (1998), *review denied* 137 Wn.2d 1012, 978 P.2d 1099 (1999). To hold otherwise would put agencies in an untenable position. *Id*.

The adequacy of an agency's search for public records is separate from the question of whether the requested records are found. *Neighborhood Alliance v. County of Spokane*, 153 Wn. App. 241, 257, 224 P.3d 775 (2009), *affirmed in part, reversed on other grounds*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011). As the Court in *Neighborhood Alliance* explained, the standard for determining the adequacy of an agency's search is one of reasonableness:

"The adequacy of the agency's search is judged by a standard of reasonableness, construing the facts in the light most favorable to the requestor." *Citizen's Comm'n on Human Rights v. Food & Drug Admin.*, 45 F.3d 1325, 1328 (9th Cir. 1995). An agency fulfills its obligations under the

PRA if it can demonstrate beyond a material doubt that its search was "reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents." *Weisberg v. U.S. Dept. of Justice*, 240 U.S. App. D.C. 339, 745 F.2d 1476, 1485 (1984). Moreover, the agency must show that it "made a good faith effort to conduct a search for the requested records, using methods which can be reasonably expected to produce the information requested." *Oglesby v. U.S. Dept. of Army*, U.S. App. D.C. 126, 920 F.2d 57, 68 (1990).

Id. at 257 (parenthetical citation omitted); see also WAC 44-14-04003(9) ("An agency must conduct an objectively reasonable search for responsive records."). Additionally, when a request uses inexact phrasing such as "all records relating to" a topic, the agency may interpret the request to be for records that directly and fairly address the topic. WAC 44-14-04002(2). The Washington Supreme Court has held that an agency is not required to search every possible place a record may be "conceivably stored, but only those places where it is reasonably *likely* to be found." Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 719.

Under the PRA, public agencies are required to provide inspection or copying of public records. RCW 42.56.070. The purpose of the PRA is to provide full access to public records. RCW 42.17.010(11). If an agency denies a requestor "an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record" a requestor may proceed to court to require the agency to comply with the PRA. RCW 42.56.550(1). Under certain circumstances, the PRA shifts the burden of proof onto the agency to justify the actions taken. *See*, *e.g.*,

RCW 42.56.550(1) ("The burden of proof shall be on the agency to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying is in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in whole or in part of specific information or records."). However, the statute does not alleviate a plaintiff's burden of proof to show that there is a controversy at issue.

1. The Department did not purposefully withhold the back page of the grievance form and therefore cannot be deemed to have "silently withheld" the record.

The Department did not silently withhold the back of the grievance form, containing only boilerplate instructions for filling out the form, because it was not responsive to Kozol's requests.

The Supreme Court has noted "silent withholding" occurs when an agency "retains a record or portion without providing the required link to a specific exemption, and without providing the required explanation of how the exemption applied to the specific record withheld." *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. University of Washington*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 270, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). Thus, when an agency chooses to withhold a record from a requestor, the requestor must be given notice of the exemption for which the agency believes the records are exempt from production. In *Progressive*, the requestor sought a grant proposal. The *Progressive* Court noted a clear withholding had occurred with a failure to identify the

records in the exemption log as the agency only included 23 pages of the grant proposal when it was clear the record had included at least 55 pages. Id. at 269. A similar purposeful withholding was deemed to be "silent withholding" when an agency provided responsive records to a requestor and noted in its cover letter that it was refusing to provide hundreds of pages of records without identifying them in an exemption log. Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 538, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), reversed and remanded on other grounds, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009). "Silent withholding" can also occur when an agency redacts information and fails to provide a statutory basis for the redactions. Gronquist v. Washington State Dept. of Licensing, 175 Wn. App. 729, 736, 309 P.3d 538 (2013). In each of the cases where the Court found an agency to be silently withholding records, it was clear the agency deemed the records responsive to the requests and yet failed to provide the requestor with proper identification or any explanation for the withholding.

The facts here do not amount to "silent withholding" because the Department did not purposefully deny or refuse Kozol from reviewing the back page of the grievance form. The back page of the form was not responsive to the request. While the form contains a back information page, that page is merely instructional for the offender. CP 152. CP 156.

None of the information on the back page of the grievance form is used to process the offender's grievance because it is not considered to be part of the grievance record. CP 153. For the same reasons, it is not scanned and maintained as part of the official grievance record. CP 153. Therefore, when Kozol's request for documents related to grievances was processed, the Department did not consider the back page of the grievance form to be responsive to his request. CP 153. The Department's reasonable interpretation of Kozol's request yielded exactly what Kozol expected and what was provided to him, the official grievance record. The grievance record does not contain the instructional page nor would it ever be considered to be part of the retained grievance packet. CP 153. As such, the Department did not "silently withhold" a record that was never responsive to Kozol's request in the first place. Nor was Kozol entitled to an exemption log identifying a record that was not responsive to his request. Accordingly, the decision dismissing Kozol's claim should be affirmed.

2. Search of available paper grievances or any change in "search terms" would not have yielded the back page of the grievance form responsive to Kozol's request.

Kozol then asserts the Department failed to perform an adequate search for the records because its search did not include the paper grievance forms and the Department's search terms were inadequate. However, neither review of the paper copies of the grievances nor a change in the search terms would have yielded the back page of grievance form as responsive to his request because the Department reasonably interpreted the request not to include the boilerplate instruction page.

Kozol was aware the back page would not have been deemed responsive to his request and used his request for grievance records as a pretext to set up the Department to "fail" in providing its response to his request for individual grievance records. CP 481-528. Kozol was well aware of this and began his campaign with former offender Aaron Leigh to create as many frivolous PRA claims as possible against the Department. CP 481-528. This included ensuring he only requested grievances that were written on the "new" forms which would contain a front and back page as the old grievance forms would not contain the back page boilerplate instructions. CP 482-483. CP 490-492. Further, Kozol's emails indicate he had no rhyme or reason to seek the grievance records he requested. CP 493. Therefore, in order to obtain as many valid Grievance Log ID numbers as possible, Kozol began "recruiting passers-by" to obtain their grievance number information and funneled that information so that he and his partner could begin filing duplicative PRA requests. CP 493-494. Once Kozol received the Department's responses where they could "park" on his email address, he and his partner could then move forward with their "avalanche of suits." CP 904-918. Kozol had no intention of even reviewing the records which is evidenced by his request to see if the documents arrived with "no need to print any the content." CP 497-513. Kozol then moved forward with filing his lawsuits by being purposely evasive and filing in multiple counties to ensure his cases would not be considered duplicative and consolidated. CP 517-522.

It is clear Kozol knew the Department would not identify the back page of the grievance form as responsive to his request. Such a request goes beyond the parameters of RCW 42.56.080 which requires the Department to produce records which are identifiable. An identifiable public record is "one for which the requestor has given a reasonable description enabling the government employee to locate the requested record." *Beal*, 150 Wn. App. at 872; *see also* WAC 44-14-04002(2) (an "identifiable record" is one agency staff can "reasonably locate"). In this regard, the PRA does not require agencies to be mind readers, or to produce records that have not been requested. *Bonamy*, 92 Wn. App. at 409. To hold otherwise would put agencies in an untenable position. *Id*.

The Department interpreted Kozol's request under the same context in which Kozol expected the request to be considered. The back page of a grievance form would be produced in response to a request that specifically seeks the back page of the form. CP 260-271. However, a

request for a specific offender's grievance records would never yield the back page of the grievance form as a responsive record because the Department does not consider the back page to be part of the official offender grievance record. CP 153. The same records would have been deemed responsive and provided to Kozol regardless of whether the Department reviewed the paper copy of the offender grievance record or changed its search terms. As such, Kozol never met his burden of establishing a prima facie case for a PRA violation as required by RCW 42.56.550 by failing to show there is even a controversy at issue. Therefore, the Court should affirm the dismissal of Kozol's claims.

3. The back page of the grievance form was not responsive regardless of whether it contained any handwriting.

Kozol further argues the back page of the grievance forms were responsive to his request because some of the forms appear to have writing on them. During the course of litigating these cases, Kozol filed another public disclosure request with the Department. CP 260. Unlike his requests in this case, Kozol specifically asked for copies of the "DOC 05-165 Back" of every original paper Offender Complaint/Grievance form filed by offenders within the last six (6) years at the Washington State Penitentiary." CP 260. Kozol asserts that because some of the back pages

have writing on them, the Department cannot take the position that they are merely instructional. However, Kozol's assertion is misplaced.

Offenders housed in the Intensive Management Unit do not have access to a locked grievance box; therefore, the grievance documents are collected directly from the offender. CP 344-345. At times, an offender may fold his grievance in half, causing the "back page" of the grievance to become the outside/envelope of the grievance. CP 345. The collecting staff member may write the grievance office mailbox number "W40" or the grievance officer's name on the outside of the grievance to ensure the grievance is delivered to the grievance office for processing. CP 345. This information is not deemed to be relevant to the grievance complaint itself and would not be used to investigate the offender's complaint. CP 345. Nor would the fact that the grievance mailbox number or the grievance officer's name be maintained for any purpose related to the offender's grievance complaint record. CP 345.

While Kozol may have received the back page of the grievance form, when he specifically requested it, does not make them responsive to his requests for the official grievance record. Further, the mere fact that a back page has handwriting on it, does not change whether it is considered in the grievance investigation or scanned as part of the official grievance record. Despite his assertions, Kozol has failed to show the back page of

the grievance form was responsive to his request and the Court should affirm the decision of the trial court dismissing his claims.

4. Kozol cannot establish a PRA violation for PDU-18880 because the Department searched in all reasonable locations for responsive records to the request.

In addition, Kozol asserts the subsequent location of responsive records to his request under PDU-18880 renders him the prevailing party and precluded a dismissal. However, the Department performed a reasonable search for the records under PDU-18880. All offender grievance packets are scanned and saved into the Liberty system. CP 36. Therefore, the Public Disclosure Coordinator assigned to the requests reviewed Liberty for the responsive documents. CP 36. During her review, she noticed the only grievance packet not in the Liberty system was Kozol's request for Grievance Log ID 1109284, assigned PDU-18880. CP 36-37. Therefore, the Public Disclosure Coordinator contacted the Statewide Grievance Coordinator to see whether the documents were available as the Grievance Coordinator would have access to all grievances statewide². CP 37. The Grievance Coordinator indicated that Grievance Log ID 1109284 did not exist. CP 40.

The Department made a reasonable search for the responsive records by not only checking the system where they are maintained but by

² At the same time another requestor, Aaron Leigh, made a public disclosure request for the same Grievance Log ID.

also following up with the Statewide Grievance Coordinator to ensure they would not be located anywhere else. It was only after notification that the grievance did not exist that the Department informed Kozol there were no responsive records. The Department had no reason to believe there were any additional areas where the documents would likely be stored. This is evidenced by the Department's review of Liberty which still indicated the grievance did not exist on April 3, 2014 after the documents were found while conducting discovery in this case. CP 37. The agency is not required to search every possible place a record may be "conceivably stored, but only those places where it is reasonably *likely* to be found." *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 719. Because the Department conducted a reasonable search for the documents responsive to PDU-18880 where the documents were likely to be found, the Court should uphold the dismissal of his claim.

5. Kozol's unlawful destruction claim has no merit.

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